STATE OF INDIANA

INDIANA GAMING COMMISSION

EMERGENCY ORDER
IN RE EMERGENCY ORDER )
CONCERNING ) ORDER NO.
) 2020-MS-03
RODERICK J. RATCLIFF )
LICENSE NO. MS-17515-L1 )
EMERGENCY ORDER

The Indiana Gaming Commission (“Commission”) hereby issues an emergency order
pursuant to Indiana Code 4-21.5-4 and 68 IAC 13-1-22, regarding action against the Respondent,
Roderick J. Ratcliff (“Respondent”), and states as follows:

PARTIES

1. The Commission is the Indiana administrative agency with its principal offices located in
Marion County, Indiana, that has been granted, in Title 4 of the Indiana Code, all power
and duties to administer, regulate, and enforce the system of riverboat gaming in Indiana.
IC 4-33-4-1.

2. Respondent is a Substantial Owner, as defined by 68 IAC 1-1-86, of Spectacle Gary,
LLC (“Spectacle Gary”), the ultimate parent of the Majestic Star Casino, and holds a
Level 1 occupational license. Spectacle Entertainment Group, LLC (“Spectacle
Entertainment”) is an entity which has a majority position in Spectacle Gary (both
entities, and any other affiliated entities, collectively referred to as “Spectacle”).

3. Respondent was previously Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Spectacle Gary
Board of Managers. Respondent resigned from these two positions on June 19, 2020.
Spectacle subsequently appointed Respondent to the position of Investor Relations and
Financial Advisor.

4. On December 3, 2020, the Commission received termination paperwork whereby
Spectacle Gary terminated Respondent from his position as Investor Relations and
Financial Advisor.

5. At present, Respondent still remains a licensee of the Commission due to his ownership
in Spectacle Gary.

LAW

6. This is an emergency order brought forth under IC 4-21.5-4, IC 4-33-4, IC 4-33-8, and 68
IAC 13.
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The Commission is a state agency that was created under IC 4-33-4-1.

An agency may conduct proceedings under IC 4-21.5-4 if an emergency exists. IC 4-
21.5-4-1.

An order issued under IC 4-21.5-4 may be issued without notice or evidentiary hearing
by an authorized individual or panel of individuals. IC 4-21.5-4-2.

The agency issuing an order under IC 4-21.5-4 shall give such notice as soon as is
practicable to persons who are required to comply with the order. IC 4-21.5-4-3.

An order issued under IC 4-21.5-4 order is effective when issued. IC 4-21.5-4-3.

The Commission has the power and duty to fully and effectively execute IC 4-33.
Specifically, the Commission has the power and duty to: investigate and reinvestigate
applicants and license holders; take appropriate administrative enforcement or
disciplinary action against a licensee; investigate alleged violations of IC 4-33; and
revoke, suspend, or renew licenses issued under 4-33. IC 4-33-4-1.

The Commission may suspend, revoke, or restrict an occupational licensee for the
following, among other, reasons: a violation of IC 4-33; a cause that if known to the
Commission would have disqualified the applicant from receiving the occupational
license; or any other just cause. IC 4-33-8-8.

In order to be qualified to hold an occupational license, an individual must meet
“standards adopted by the Commission for the holding of an occupational license.” IC 4-
33-8-3.

All occupational licensees have a continuing duty to maintain suitability for licensure. 68
IAC 2-3-9; 68 IAC 13-1-1.

An occupational licensee bears the burden of demonstrating that he or she is suitable for
licensure. 68 IAC 2-3-4.

An occupational license does not create a property right, but is a revocable privilege
granted by the state contingent upon continuing suitability for licensure. 68 IAC 2-3-9;
68 IAC 13-1-1.

An occupational licensee shall “(n)otify the Commission of any changes in the
information submitted in the application or any information that could render the licensee
ineligible to hold an occupational license.” 68 IAC 2-3-9(c)(1). Such notification must
occur “as soon as the occupational licensee becomes aware of the violation.” 68 IAC 2-
3-9(d).

An occupational licensee must submit in writing to the Commission, among other things,
the following: “That the occupational licensee has been arrested for, indicted of, charged
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with, convicted of, or plead guilty to any felony or misdemeanor offense;” and “Any
other information that would affect the occupational licensee’s suitability to maintain a
license under the Act or this rule.” 68 IAC 2-3-9.1(a)(5) and (6). Such notification must
be submitted within ten (10) calendar days of the change or occurrence of the event. 68
IAC 2-3-9.1(b)(2).

A casino licensee is likewise required to notify the Commission regarding an
occupational licensee who is in violation of IC 4-33 or 68 IAC if the casino licensee is
aware of the violation. 68 IAC 2-3-9.

Occupational licensees must cooperate with and provide truthful information to
enforcement agents and staff during any investigation regarding criminal activity or
regulatory violations, or both. 68 IAC 2-3-9.

68 IAC 1-4-3 provides that casino licensees may not enter into a contract that is not
commercially reasonable or does not reflect the fair market value of the goods or services
rendered or received as determined at the time that the contract is executed.

An applicant is under a continuing duty to disclose any changes in the information
submitted to the Commission with the applicant’s application. 68 TAC 2-3-4(b)(7).

The Commission may initiate an investigation or disciplinary action if the Commission
has reason to believe a licensee is not acting in accordance with licensure conditions. 68
IAC 13-1-1.

Job descriptions, job titles and organization charts are conditions of licensure and
information required by the Commission. IC 4-33-8-5; 68 IAC 13-1-1.

It is the intention of the Riverboat Gambling Act to maintain the public’s confidence and
trust only through the strict regulation of persons and associations. IC 4-33-1-2.

If the Commission determines that an emergency exists, the Commission may suspend an
occupational license without notice or an evidentiary proceeding, by an authorized
individual or panel of individuals. 68 IAC 13-1-22.

FACTS

On or about December 10, 2018, Respondent submitted an application to the Commission
for a Level 1 occupational license. On or about March 14, 2019, the Respondent was
issued a Level 1 occupational license.

Respondent was previously Spectacle Gary’s Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of
the Board of Managers, the parent of the Majestic Star Casino in Gary, Indiana.
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. Previously, Respondent was Chief Executive Officer of New Centaur Gaming, LLC

(“Centaur”), operating Indiana Grand Racing & Casino and Hoosier Park Racing &
Casino (collectively the “Racinos™).

Southern District of Indiana Indictment

On or about September 24, 2020, an Indictment was issued in the matter United States of
America v. Darryl Brent Waltz, and John S. Keeler charging that John Keeler, former
Vice President and General Counsel of Centaur, engaged in a conspiracy to make and
receive corporate campaign contributions in violation of federal election laws, made false
statements, and obstructed justice. A true and accurate copy of the Indictment is attached
hereto as Exhibit A.

The Indictment alleges, from on or about January 2015 through on or about November
18, 2015, a knowing and willful conspiracy to make corporate contributions in violation
of federal law occurred. At that time, Centaur owned and operated Indiana Grand Racing
& Casino and Hoosier Park Racing & Casino and Respondent was Chief Executive
Officer.

The Indictment alleges unlawful and unreported corporate contributions from Centaur in
violation of federal law and a conduit scheme utilizing false invoices issued to Centaur
resulting in false reports filed with the Federal Election Commission.

The Indictment alleges that on or about April 6, 2015, a Centaur assistant purchased
roundtrip airfare for an individual named Kelley Rogers to travel to Indianapolis, Indiana

to meet with a Centaur executive at the airport on April 10, 2015.

The Indictment further alleges that on April 10, 2015, Rogers did travel to Indianapolis,
Indiana and did meet with the Centaur executive at the airport.

The Indictment alleges that this was an overt act committed in furtherance of a
conspiracy to violate federal election law.

Upon information and belief obtained independently by the Commission, the Centaur
executive identified in the Indictment is Respondent.

Failure to Cooperate

On or about June 9, 2020, the Commission requested Respondent’s participation in an
interview with Commission investigators regarding alleged violations of the Riverboat
Gambling Act. On June 16, 2020, Respondent, via legal counsel, informed the
Commission he would not cooperate with the Commission interview scheduled to occur
on June 17, 2020.

On June 17, 2020, counsel for Respondent sent a communication to Commission staff
apologizing for Respondent’s failure to cooperate and indicated that should the
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Commission wish to interview Respondent again, Respondent would be available “upon
demand.”

On or about November 30, 2020, the Commission again requested Respondent’s
participation in an interview with Commission investigators regarding alleged violations
of the Riverboat Gambling Act. Respondent’s legal counsel initially agreed to an
interview with Commission investigators scheduled for December 10, 2020. On
December 9, 2020, Respondent’s legal counsel again informed Commission staff that
Respondent would refuse to participate in an interview.

Associations

Associates of Respondent were asked to participate in interviews regarding issues of
regulatory concern. Three (3) associates refused to participate in interviews, with two (2)
citing their Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination. While the constitutional
right to avoid self-incrimination can be claimed, the Commission may draw an adverse
inference from an individual’s refusal to testify before the Commission.

Failure to Update

Respondent’s equity units in Spectacle are held in the Roderick J. Ratcliff Revocable
Trust.

In 2018, Respondent submitted, via Exhibit 13 of his personal disclosure reinvestigation
application, a copy of the Roderick J. Ratcliff Revocable Trust Agreement (“Trust
Agreement”).

On December 10, 2020, Commission staff requested a copy of the Trust Agreement.
Respondent’s legal counsel assured Commission staff the Trust Agreement had not been
updated and it was the same document as submitted to the Commission in 2018.

Commission staff reiterated its request for a copy of the Trust Agreement and on
December 11, 2020, Respondent’s legal counsel provided a current copy of the Trust
Agreement.

A comparison of the Trust Agreements submitted on December 11, 2020 and in 2018
revealed that Respondent, on August 30, 2020, executed a modification to the Trust
Agreement. Specifically, Respondent named a new successor trustee.

The successor trustee also failed to advise the Commission of the change, as required.

Failure to Update of Equity Transfers

On November 17, 2020, Spectacle reported, after conducting an audit of corporate
offices, that Respondent transferred Class A units in Spectacle to Rich Zeigler, Matt
Whetstone and John Keeler.
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Spectacle and Respondent failed to timely update and notify the Commission of the
equity transfers and other relevant documentation and actions related to the equity
transfers.

In addition, there was an equity transfer of 3,000 Class B units made on August 21, 2019
and Spectacle failed to update the Commission regarding this equity transfer as well.

Contracts

On February 25, 2020, and as a result of certain actions by Respondent, Spectacle entered
into a Settlement and Release Agreement (“Agreement”). Spectacle did not report the
existence of this Agreement to the Commission until October 20, 2020.

The Agreement contained not only a monetary settlement amount but also a grant of
Class B units in Spectacle. The equity transfer was also not reported to the Commission.

The Agreement was subject to Commission reporting requirements and is required to
meet the standard of commercial reasonableness. Failure to provide the document
deprived the Commission of the ability to conduct a review pursuant to its statutory
mandate and resulted in the company holding secret ownership information which was
required to be disclosed.

The Agreement expressly notes the Commission’s jurisdiction as it referenced regulatory
cancellation pursuant to 68 TAC 1-4-1 yet, despite this acknowledgment, the relevant

parties failed to disclose this Agreement to Commission.

Acting Outside of Licensure Conditions

On or about June 23, 2020, upon Respondent’s resignation as Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer, Executive Director Tait sent a directive that Respondent was no longer
authorized to perform the duties associated with the Chairman and CEO job description
approved by the Commission.

Subsequently, Spectacle submitted a job description for job title: Financial Advisor and
Investor Relations position. The Commission approved Respondent to act in this
capacity and pursuant to the approved job description.

The job description set forth that Respondent’s duties included development and
fostering of “relationships with existing investors, lenders and warrant holders” and
assisting “the Company in exploring and securing new financing arrangements.”

On December 3, 2020, Respondent was terminated from the Financial Advisor and
Investor Relations position.



32. On December 12, 2020, the Commission received a copy of correspondence from
Respondent wherein Respondent, during negotiations, rejected an offer and indicated he
may review a revised offer but only if it considered “very important” issues relating to
Spectacle Entertainment and its voting control and investors.

33. On December 20, 2020, the Commission was advised that Respondent, while in the
course of negotiations regarding his divestiture, again demanded consideration of factors
related to Spectacle Entertainment and its investors and even proposed revisions to the
operating agreement.

34. Respondent’s actions, as reported to the Commission on December 12, 2020 and
December 20, 2020, demonstrate Respondent is continuing to conduct work to foster
relationships with investors and lenders of Spectacle. In addition, Respondent is
attempting to secure new financing arrangements for the casino owner’s licensee.
Respondent is not an employee or executive of Spectacle and therefore has no role or
authority to negotiate or compel terms of financial arrangements on behalf of Spectacle
or other investors. Despite his resignation, Commission directive, and his termination,
Respondent continues to exert control over the casino owner’s licensee.

DISCUSSION

The forbearance afforded Respondent has produced no satisfactory results and is no longer
justified. Additionally, new information has emerged in the preceding fourteen (14) days
regarding Respondent’s suitability. An emergency is warranted as Respondent is continuing to
function and exert control and influence on behalf of the casino owner’s licensee. These actions
are contrary to the expectations, rules, and directives of the Commission. The actions further
undermine the ability of the remaining parties in good standing to identify solutions related to the
ongoing suitability review of Spectacle. It cannot continue. The strict regulation of gaming
cannot occur without respect for and adherence to the Commission’s statutes and rules.
Respondent has shown blatant disregard for the responsibilities associated with the privilege of
maintaining a gaming license. Respondent’s actions have undermined the Commission’s ability
to properly regulate Respondent. An emergency order suspending Respondent’s license is
necessary based upon the actions of Respondent and in accordance the requirements of statute
and rule.

FINDINGS AND ORDER

1. Per IC 4-21.5-4 and 68 TAC 13-1-22, it is the Commission’s determination that an
emergency exists as the Commission cannot regulate in accordance with statue while
allowing Respondent to flagrantly repudiate responsibilities required with licensure. The
continued licensure of Respondent does not serve to uphold the public confidence or
promote the integrity of gaming as required by statute.

2. Any license held by Respondent is hereby immediately SUSPENDED per IC 4-21.5-
4 and 68 IAC 13-1-22.



EFFECTIVENESS

This order, Order No. 2020-MS-03, is effective immediately per IC 4-21.5-4-3 and 68 IAC 13-1-
22, and is effective for 90 days unless renewed per IC 4-21.5-4-5.

APPEAL RIGHTS

IC 4-21.5-4-4 states that upon a request by a party for a hearing on an order rendered under
section 2(a)(1) of this chapter, the agency shall, as quickly as is practicable, set the matter for an
evidentiary hearing. An administrative law judge shall determine whether the order under this
chapter should be voided, terminated, modified, stayed, or continued. Should you wish to
request review of the agency action, you may do so through the State of Indiana Office of
Administrative Law Proceedings in one of the following ways: 1) go online to www. in.gov/oalp
and complete a Petition for Review; 2) mail your request; or 3) personally appear at the Office of
Administrative Law Proceedings located at 402 W. Washington Street Rm. W161 / Indianapolis,
IN 46204 to file a Petition for Review. You will need this document to complete your request.

IT IS SO ORDERED THIS THE 23" DAY OF DECEMBER, 2020.

THE INDIANA GAMING COMMISSION:

@/\/‘\__

Michael McMains, Chair

ATTEST:

ﬁDM

Jason Dudich, Secretary
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Exhibit - A | FILED:

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA

INDIANAPOLIS DIVISION U.S, CLeries o
EVANSVILLE (s

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, )
)
Plaintiff, )
)
\z )
) . )
DARRYL BRENT WALTZ, and ) CAUSENO: 120-CRP3% - W
JOHN S. KEELER, )
)
Defendants. )
INDICTMENT
THE GRAND JURY CHARGES THAT:
GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

At all times material to this Indictment, unless otherwise specified:

I Relevant Entities and Individuals

1. The defendant, DARRYL BRENT WALTZ, was an Indiana politician and
businessman. WALTZ served as an Indiana State Senator from 2004 to 2016, WALTZ was a
candidate in 2015 and 2016 leading up to the May 2016 primary election for an open seat to
represent Indiana’s Ninth Congressional District in the United States House of Representatives.
On or about July 16, 201'5, WALTZ announced his candidacy for the Office of the House of
Representatives representing the Ninth District of Indiana.

2, The defendant, JOHN S. KEELER, was Vice President and General Counsel of
New Centaur, LLC, a gaming company formed in Delaware and based in Indianapolis, Indiana.

3. Brent Waltz for Congress was the official federal campaign committee formed to

receive campaign contributions for the election of WALTZ. Brent Waltz for Congress was

SEP 24 o0
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located in Greenwood, Indiana. On August 4, 2015, the Federal Election Commission received
the Statement of Organization for Brent Waltz for Congress, which reflected the campaign’s
creation date of July 16, 2015. This Statement listed Kelley Rogers as the Designated Agent for
the campaign.

4, Kelley Rogers was a political consultant residing in Maryland. Rogers operated a
consulting company called Strategic Campaign Group (SCG), as well as several affiliated
companies, including Campaign Communications, Inc. (CCI), and Kelley Rogers Racing, LLC
(KRR).

5. Charles “Chip” O’Neil was an employee of Kelley Rogers and a political
consultant, O’Neil was the Vice President of SCG and signatory on a CCI bank account. O’Neil
and Rogers worked together out of the same office and were the only active employees of SCG.

6. Between on or about January 1, 2015 and continuing at least through the primary
elections on or about May 3, 2016, WALTZ conducted a campaign for the Office of United States
Representative, During this campaign, WALTZ and others solicited donations to his campaign.
A primary election was held on or about May 3, 2016, at which WALTZ was defeated and his
campaign ended. During the course of the campaign, Brent Waltz for Congress reported to the
Federal Election Commission that it received approximately $152,078.49 from individual
contributors, loans from the candidate (WALTZ) in the amount of $113,700.00, and no
contributions from corporations.

7. Kelley Rogers setved as an advisor and/or consultant to the WALTZ campaign. In
this capacity, Rogers communicated with WALTZ about fundraising for the campaign. Rogers

also communicated with KEELER about contributing to WALTZ’s campaign.
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8. Straw Donors 1 through 9 included WALTZ as well as friends and/or associates of
Kelley Rogers and Charles O’Neil living outside Indiana, A “straw donor” is a person who
contributes to a campaign in his or her name despite receiving an advance payment or subsequent
reimbursement of all or a part of that contribution from another source, thereby acting as an
intermediary between the true source of the contribution and the candidate or campaign that
receives the coniribution, which is prohibited under federal law.

9. Straw Donor 10 was WALTZ’s relative and a resident of Indiana.

10.  Straw Donor 11 was WALTZ’s business associate and a resident of Indiana.

11.  Straw Donor 12 was married to Straw Donor 11 and a resident of Indiana.

12.  Straw Donor 13 was WALTZ’s friend and associate and a resident of Indiana.

13.  Company B operated in Indiana and employed WALTZ and Straw Donor 11.

14.  Person A was WALTZ’s relative and a resident of Indiana.

15.  Person B was WALTZ’s relative and a resident of Indiana.

1I. The Election Act

16.  The Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended, Title 52, United States

Code, Sections 30101, ef seq. (“Election Act”), limited financial influence in the election of

candidates for federal office, including for the United States Congress, and provided for public
disclosure of the financing of federal election campaigns, as follows:

a. The Election Act prohibited contributions by corporations in connection with

any' election at which a United States Representative is to be voted for, or in

connection with any primary election held to select candidates for the Office of

United States Representative.



Case 1:20-cr-00238-JPH-TAB *SEALED* Document 1 Filed 09/24/20 Page 4 of 22 PagelD
#. 4

b. Under the Election Act, prohibited corporate contributions included, but were
not limited to, any direct or indirect payment, distribution, loan, advance,
deposit, or gift of money, services, or anything of value from a corporation to
any candidate or campaign committee in connection with any election to the
Office of United States Representative. Prohibited corporate contributions
also included, but were not limited to, the payment by a corporation of
compensation for the personal services of any person which are rendered to a
political committee without charge for any purpose.

¢. The Election Act prohibited any person from causing a corporate campaign
contribution. The Election Act also prohibited any candidate, political
committee, or other person from knowingly acéepting or receiving such a
corporate contribution.

d. The Election Act limited the amount and source of money that may be
contributed to a federal candidate or that candidate’s authorized campaign
committee.

e. The Election Act expressly states that contributions made through an
intermediary are treated as contributions from the original payor.

f. In2015 and 2016, the Election Act prohibited both primary and general election
campaign contributions in the name of intermediaries or straw donors to any
candidate. The Election Act also prohibited any candidate, political
committee, or other person from knowingly accepting or receiving a

contribution in the name of an intermediary or straw donor.
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campaign contributions by individuals to $2,700 from any individual to any one
candidate.  The Election Act also prohibited any candidate, political
commitiee, or other person from knowingly accepting or receiving a
contribution in excess of these limitations.

17.  The Federal Election Commission was an agency and department of the United
States with jurisdiction to enforce the limits and prohibitions of the Election Act, and to compile
and publicly report accurate information about the source and amounts of contributions.

18.  Pursuant to the Election Act, the Federal Election Commission required campaign
committees, including Brent Waltz for Congress, to file periodic reports of receipts and
disbursements identifying, among other things, each person who made a contribution to such
committee during the relevant reporting period whose contribution or contributions had an
aggregate amount or value in excess of $200 within the calendar year, together with the date and
the amount of any such contribution. In preparing these reports, federal candidates and political
committees relied on the information provided by the donor, including the individual’s name,
address, and occupation. These periodic reports, which were filed with the Federal Election
Commission and made publicly available, were intended to provide citizens with a transparent
record of contributions to candidates for federal office.

COUNT ONE
18 U.S.C. § 371

(Conspiracy to Make and Receive Corporate Campaign Contributions,
False Statements, and to Obstruct Justice)

19.  Paragraphs I through 18 of this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by

reference as if set forth fully herein.

20.  From in or about January 2015 through in or about November 18, 2015, in the
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Southern District of Indiana and elsewhere, the defendant,

JOHN S. KEELER,
knowingly and voluntarily conspired and agreed with Kelley Rogers, Charles O’Neil, and with
other persons both known and unknown to the grand jury, to commit the following offenses against
the United States:

a. To knowingly and willfully make contributions of corporate money in connection
with any election at which a United States Representative is to be voted for, and
in connection with any primary election to select candidates for United States
Representative, which aggregated no less than $25,000 in a calendar year, in
violation of Title 52, United States Code, Sections 30118(a}) and
30109(d)(1)(A)(i) and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2;

b. To knowingly and willfully cause the submission of materially false, fictitious,
and fraudulent statements and representations in a matter within the jurisdiction of
the Federal Election Commission, a department or agency of the executive branch
of the government of the United States, in violation of Title 18, United States
Code, Sections 1001(a)(2) and 2; and

c. To knowingly conceal, cover up, falsify, and make a false entry in records and
documents, and cause others to do so, with the intent to impede, obstruct, and
influence the investigation and proper administration of a matter within the
jurisdiction of a department and agency of the United States, and in relation to
and contemplation of such matter, in violation of Title 18, United States Code,

Sections 1519 and 2.



Case 1:20-cr-00238-JPH-TAB *SEALED* Document 1 Filed 09/24/20 Page 7 of 22 PagelD
#7

A, Purposes of the Conspiracy

21.  The purposes of the conspiracy were to facilitate and cause unlawful and unreported
corporate contributions from New Centaur, LL.C, through Rogers and O’Neil, to the Brent Waltz
for Congress campaign, in order to: evade the prohibition against corporate contributions to Brent
Waltz for Congress; disguise the fact that New Centaur, LLC, was the true source of the funds that
KEELER caused New Centaur, LLC to contribute to the campaign; and to cause officials of the
Brent Waltz for Congress campaign to unwittingly file false reports of contributions that concealed
from the Federal Election Commission and the public the corporate contributions caused by
KEELER and others.

B. The Manner and Means of the Conspiracy

22.  The manner and means of the conspiracy included, but were not limited to, the
following:

23, KEELER aﬁd Rogers agreed that KEELER would cause New Centaur, LL.C, to
transfer money from its accounts to Rogers, and Rogers would contribute that money to WALTZ’s
campaign. KEELER and Rogers agreed that Rogers would create phony invoices and agreements
that purported to reflect services to be performed for New Centaur, LLC, by entities that Rogers
controlled, although KEELER and Rogers knew and intended that these services would not be
performed by anyone at any time.

24, KEELER, Rogers, and O’Neil knew and intended that these invoices would conceal
the fact that the payments from New Centaur, LLC, were, in truth and in fact, illegal corporate
contributions that they intended to be transferred to WALTZ’s campaign, and not payment for the
services indicated in the fake invoices,

25, Upon receipt of the phony invoices from Rogers and O’Neil, KEELER caused
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payments to be issued from corporate accounts of New Centaur, LLC, to two entities controlled
by Rogers and O’Neil, namely, KRR and CCL

26.  Rogers and O’Neil recruited Straw Donors 1 through 9, who agreg:d to make
contributions in their names in the amount of $2,700 to Brent Waltz for Congress in exchange for
a full reimbursement of those contributions by Rogers and O’Neil. Straw Donors 1 through 9 did
in fact contribute $2,700 each in their names to Brent Waltz for Congress, and Rogers and O Neil
reimbursed each Straw Donor using the money they received from New Centaur, LLC. Rogers
and O’Neil also agreed to make conduit contributions in their names, and they reimbursed
themselves with the money from New Centaur, LLC.

27, Rogers also made several transfers of the New Centaur, LLC, money directly to
WALTZ personally,

28.  Rogers also served as a campaign advisor to the WALTZ campaign and used some
of the money from New Centaur, LLC to cover his consulting fees, thereby using the corporate
contributions to pay for services provided to the WALTZ campaign, which is a violation of the
Election Act as it is a prohibited “in-kind” contribution. WALTZ knew that Rogers’s
compensation was covered by the New Centaur, LLC money. Indeed, neither WALTZ nor his
campaign paid Rogers for his services during the course of the campaign.

29, KEELER, WALTZ, Rogers, and O’Neil concealed from officials of the WALTZ
campaign, the Federal Election Commission, and the public the use of New Centaur, LLC,
corporate funds to make illegal contributions to Brent Waltz for Congress, thereby causing the
campaign unwittingly to file reports with the Federal Election Commission that were materially
false, in that these reports failed to provide accurate information concerning the source and amount

of the corporate contributions as required by law.
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C. Overt Acts in Furtherance of the Conspiracy

30. In furtherance of the conspiracy, and to accomplish its purpose, KEELER, Rogers,
O’Neil, and others known and unknown to the grand jury, performed or caused the performance
of one or more of the following overt acts, among others not described herein, in the Southern
District of Indiana and elsewhere on or about the following dates:

a. On or about April 6, 2015, an assistant at New Centaur, LLC, purchased a roundtrip

plane ticket in Kelley Rogers’ name so that Rogers could travel from Washington,
D.C., to Indianapolis, Indiana on April 10, 2015, to meet with an executive of New
Centaur, LLC at the Indianapolis airport.

b. On or about April 10, 2015, Rogers flew to Indianapolis and met with the New
Centaur, LLC executive at the Indianapolis airport. At this meeting, the New
Centaur, LLC executive and Rogers agreed that New Centaur, LLC would provide
money to Rogers so that Rogers could contribute that money to WALTZ’s
campaign. The New Centaur, LLC executive and Rogers agreed that Rogers
would create fake invoices and send them to New Centaur, LLC to provide cover
for the corporate contributions and disguise the transfers of money as payment for
legitimate services. The New Centaur, LLC executive and Rogers knew that
neither Rogers nor anyone else would perform the services that would be reflected
in the fake agreements that they agreed Rogers would create and send to New
Centaur, LLC,

C. After the April 10, 2015, meeting with the New Centaur, LLC executive, Rogers

and O’Neil created fake invoices to send to New Centaur, LLC. Rogers told

KEELER that he would send invoices for services no one would perform and that
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he would use the money that New Centaur, LLC, transferred to Rogers under the
cover of the agreements and invoices to contribute to WALTZ’s campaign.

d. One of the agreements was dated May 1, 2015, and purported to be an agreement
between New Centaur, LLC, and CCI in which CCI would perform services, such
as “monitoring of all presidential candidates,” “providing briefings as desired by
you or other principals in your organization,” “scheduling notices of candidates
activities as requested by your organization,” and “notification of any change in the
federal campaign finance law as it relates to presidential campaigns.” The fee
listed for these services was $38,500, and the agreement purportedly expired on
December 31, 2015. Rogers signed this agreement on behalf of CCI, and
KEELER signed on behalf of New Centaur, LLC. Rogers and O’Neil knew this
agreement was fake and they never intended to perform these services. KEELER
also knew this agreement was fake and never intended for these services to be
performed by anyone.

e. The second fake agreement was dated May 10, 2015. This agreement purported
to reflect services to be provided to New Centaur, LLC, by KRR. The services
reflected in this agreement include “a review of various off-track betting facilities,
racetrack Dbetting facilities and recruitment techniques to improve horse
population.” The fee listed for these services was $41,000, due immediately, and
the agreement purportedly expired on September 1, 2015. Rogers signed the
agreement on behalf of KRR, and KEELER signed on behalf of New Centaur, LL.C.
Rogers and O’Neil knew this agreement was fake and they never intended to

perform these services. KEELER also knew this agreement was fake and never

10
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intended for these services to be performed by anyone.

f. On or about May 8, 2015, Rogers and O’Neil emailed the two fake agreements and
related invoices to KEELER at New Centaur, LL.C.

g. On or about May 13, 2015, KEELER caused New Centaur, LLC, to send payments
purportedly for each of these two fake agreements in the form of two checks: one
check was made out to CCT in the amount of $38,500, and the other was made out
to KRR in the amount of $41,000. As such, the total amount of money New
Centaur, LLC sent to entities controlled by Rogers in order to execute this scheme
was $79,500. |

h. Rogers and O’Neil never performed any of the services reflecied in the two fake
agreements, and neither KEELER nor any other New Centaur, LLC employee ever
followed up to request the performance of these services.

1 Prior to and during September 2015, Rogers and O’Neil recruited Straw Donors 1
through 9 and asked them to contribute $2,700 each to Brent Waltz for Congress
with the promise that they each would be reimbursed for their contribution. Each
Straw Donor contributed by check a donation of $2,700 to Brent Waltz for
Congress, and Rogers and O’Neil reimbursed each Straw Donor using the money
from New Centaur, LLC. Rogers and O’Neil also contributed $2,700 each to
Brent Waltz for Congress, and reimbursed themselves with the money from New
Centaur, LLC.

J. Rogers also sent some of the New Centaur, LLC, money directly to WALTZ. On
ot about September 1, 2015, Rogers caused $9,000 to be transferred by check from

KRR to WALTZ. On or about September 22, 2015, Rogers transferred to WALTZ

i1
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a $5,000 cashier’s check payable to WALTZ., On or about September 29, 20135,
Rogers caused $2,500 to be transferred by check from KRR to WALTZ. In tumn,
in late September 2015, WALTZ caused approximately $10,800 of this money to
be contributed to Brent Waltz for Congress using Straw Donors 10 through 13 as
conduits.

k. Rogers kept the remaining New Centaur, LLC money, approximately $33,300, as
his fee for transferring the corporate contributions, and providing advice and
consultation, to Brent Waltz for Congress.

L On or about October 14, 2015, officials for the WALTZ campaign filed a Federal
Election Commission Form 3 that falsely identified Straw Donors 1 through 9, as
well as Rogers and O’Neil, as the source of their donations, instead of New Centaur,
LLC, which was the true source of the donations.

m. On or about November 18, 2015, officials for the WALTZ campaign filed an
amended Federal Election Commission Form 3 that falsely identified Straw Donors
1 through 9, as well as Rogers and O’Neil, as the source of their donations, instead
of New Centaur, LLC, which was the true source of the donations,

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.

COUNT TWO
52 U.S.C. §§ 30118, 30109(d)(1)(A)(D)

18 US.C.§2
(Corporate Contributions)

31.  Paragraphs 1 through 18 and 21 through 30 of this Indictment are re-alleged and
incorporated by reference as if set forth fully herein,
32.  Inoraround January 1, 2015, and continuing through in or around September 29,

2015, in the Southern District of Indiana and elsewhere, the defendant,

12
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JOHN S. KEELER,
knowingly and willfully caused contributions of corporate money, aggregating $25,000.00 and
more during the 2015 calendar year, by New Centaur, LLC, in connection with a primary
election held to select candidates for a United States Representative.
All in violation of 52 U.S.C. §§ 30118 and 30109(d)(1)(A)(i), and 18 U.S.C. § 2.
COUNT THREE
18 U.S.C. § 371

(Conspiracy to Make and Receive Conduit Contributions,
False Statements, and to Obstruct Justice)

33.  Paragraphs 1 through 18 and 21 through 30 of this Indictment are re-alleged and
incorporated by reference as if set forth fully herein.

34.  From in or about January 2015 through in or about November 18, 2015, in the
Southern District of Indiana and elsewhere, the defendant,

DARRYL BRENT WALTZ,

knowingly and voluntarily conspired and agreed with other persons both known and unknown {o
the grand jury, to commit the following offenses against the United States:

a. To knowingly and willfully make coniributions in the name of another person and
permit one’s name to be used to effect such contributions, and knowingly accept
and receive contributions made by one person in the name of another person in
connection with any election at w\hich a United States Representative is to be voted
for, and in connection with any primary clection to select candidates for United
States Representative, which aggregated more than $25,000 in a calendar year, in
violation of Title 52, United States Code, Sections 30122 and 30109(d)(1)(A)()

and Title 18, United States Code, Section 2;

13
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b. To knowingly and willfully cause the submission of materially false, fictitious, and
fraudulent statements and representations in a matter within the jurisdiction of the
Federal Election Commission, a department or agency of the executive branch of
the government of the United States, in violation of Title 18, United States Code,
Sections 1001(a)(2) and 2; and

c. To knowingly conceal, cover up, falsify, and make a false entry in records and
documents, and cause others to do so, with the intent to impede, obstruct, and
influence the investigation and proper administration of a matter within the
jurisdiction of a department and agency of the United States, and in relation to and
contemplation of such matter, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections
1519 and 2.

A, Purposes of the Conspiracy

35.  The purposes of the conspiracy were for WALTZ to facilitate and cause unlawful
coniributions through Rogers and WALTZ to the Brent Waliz for Congress campaign, in order to:
evade the prohibition against contributions made in the names of others; disguise the true sources
of the funds that Straw Donors 1 through 13 contributed to the campaign; evade the limits placed
on money that individuals could contribute to the Brent Waltz for Congress campaign; and to cause
officials of the Brent Waltz for Congress campaign to unwittingly file false reports of contributions

that concealed from the Federal Election Commission and the public the true sources of the

contributions.
B. The Manner and Means of the Conspiracy
36. The manner and means of the conspiracy included, but were not limited to, the
following:

14
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37. WALTZ and Rogers agreed that Rogers would transfer money from accounts he
controlled to WALTZ’s personal bank accounts, WALTZ would give some or all of that money
to straw donors, and the straw donors would contribute that money to Brent Waltz for Congress.

38, As a part of the conspiracy, WALTZ recruited Straw Donors 10 through 13, who
agreed that they would each make coniributions in the maximum allowed amount of $2,700 in
their namesrto the Brent Waltz for Congress campaign in exchange for a full reimbursement by
WALTZ. WALTZ and Straw Donors 10 through 13 agreed that WALTZ would repay each of
them in full for their contribution, either in advance, contemporaneously with, or after they made
their $2,700 contribution to Brent Waltz for Congress. In accordance with these agreements,
Straw Donors 10 through 13 did, in fact, each contribute $2,700 to the Brent Waltz for Congress
campaign, and WALTZ caused the reimbursement of each of these Straw Donors,

39. In order to reimburse Straw Donors 11, 12, and 13, and in an effort to disguise and
conceal those reimbursements, WALTZ wrote a check to Company B in the amount of $8,100
(which is equivalent to three maximum $2,700 contributions). WALTZ then caused Company B
to issue checks in the amounts of $5,400 to pay Straw Donors 11 and 12 for their contributions,
and $2,700 to pay Straw Donor 13 for his contribution, thereby routing the unlawful contribution
reimbursements through the accounts of Company B.  WALTZ reimbursed Straw Donor 10 using
cash.

40,  WALTZ concealed from officials of the WALTZ campaign, the Federal Election
Commission, and the public the true sources of these contributions to Brent Waltz for Congress,
thereby causing the campaign unwittingly to file reports with the Federal Election Commission
that were materially false, in that these reports failed to provide accurate information concerning

the source and amount of the contributions as required by law.

15
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C. Overt Acts in Furtherance of the Conspiracy

41,  In furtherance of the conspiracy, and to accompliéh its purpose, WALTZ, Rogers,
and others known and unknown to the grand jury, performed or caused the performance of one or
more of the following overt acts, among others not described herein, in the Southern District of
Indiana and elsewhere on or about the following dates:
a. Prior to and during September 2015, WALTZ recruited Straw Donors 10 through
13 and asked them to contribute $2,700 each to Brent Waltz for Congress with the
promise that they each would be reimbursed for their contribution. Each of these
Straw Donors agreed to contribute $2,700 in exchange for a full reimbursement by
WALTZ.

b. On or about September 1, 2015, Rogers caused $9,000 to be transferred by check
from KRR to WALTZ. On or about September 22, 2015, Rogers transferred to
WALTZ a $5,000 cashier’s check payable to WALTZ. On or about September
29, 2015, Rogers caused $2,500 to be transferred by check from KRR to WALTZ.
On the same day, Rogers caused a $3,000 cashier’s check to be sent and paid to
WALTZ, and WALTZ wrote a $2,700 check to contribute to his campaign.

C. On or about September 25, 2015, WALTZ wrote a personal check to Company B

in the amount of $8,100,

d. On or about September 25, 2015, WALTZ caused Company B to issuc a check to

Straw Donors 11 and 12 in the combined amount of $5,400 (a reimbursement of
two $2,700 contributions). On or about September 30, 2015, Straw Donor 12
deposited these funds into a joint account in the name of Straw Donors 11 and 12,

That same day, Straw Donor 12 wrote a check from their joint account to the Brent

16
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Waliz for Congress campaign in the amount of $5,400,

e. On or about September 25, 2015, WALTZ caused Company B to issue a check to
Straw Donor 13 in the amount of $2,700. On or about September 28, 2015, Straw
Donor 13 wrote a check in the amount of $2,700 to the Brent Waltz for Congress
campaign.

f. On or about September 29, 2015, WALTZ wrote a check to “cash” in the amount
of $3,000, effectively withdrawing that amount of cash from his account. On the
same day, WALTZ personally visited Straw Donor 10 at her home. During this
visit, WALTZ gave Straw Donor 10 at least $2,700 in cash. In exchange for that
cash, Straw Donor 10 wrote a $2,700 check to the Brent Waltz for Congress
campaign. The next day, on or about September 30, 2015, Straw Donor 10
deposited the $2,700 in cash into her personal bank account.

g. On or about October 14, 2015, officials for the WALTZ campaign filed a Federal
Election Commission Form 3 that falsely identified Straw Donors 10 through 13 as
the source of their donations, instead of WALTZ and Rogers, which were the true
sources of these donations.

h. On or about November 18, 2015, officials for the WALTZ campaign filed an
amended Federal Election Commission Form 3 that falsely identified Straw Donors
10 through 13 as the source of their donations, instead of WALTZ and Rogers,
which were the true sources of these donations,

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371.

17
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COUNT FOUR
52 US.C. § 30122
(Making and Receiving Conduit Contributions)

42.  Paragraphs 1 through 18, 21 through 30, and 35 through 41 of this Indictment are
re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if set forth fully herein.

43.  Inoraround January 1, 2015, and continuing through on or about November 18,
2015, in the Southern District of Indiana and elsewhere, the defendant,

DARRYL BRENT WALTZ,
willfully caused contributions of money to be made in the names of persons who were not the
true sources of the contributions, and willfully accepted those contributions, aggregating
$25.,000.00 and more during the 2015 calendar year, in connection with a primary election held
to select candidates for a Unitéd States Representative,
All in violation of 52 U.S.C. §§ 30122 and 30109(d)(1)(A)(i), and 18 U.S.C. § 2.
COUNT FIVE

18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(2)
(False Statements)

44,  Paragraphs 1 through 18 and 21 through 30 of this Indictment are re-alleged and
incorporated by reference as if set forth fully herein.

45, On or about October 14, 2015, in the Southern District of Indiana and elsewhere,
in a matter within the jurisdiction of the executive branch of the government of the United States,
the defendant,

JOHN S, KEELER,
knowingly and willfully caused the submission of a materially false, fictitious, and fraudulent
statement and representation, that is the filing by an unwitting authorized campaign committee of
a candidate for the Office of United States Representative with the Federal Election Commission,

of a report that was materially false in failing to report the source and amount of contributions to

18
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the campaign by a corporation, namely New Centaur, LLC.
All in violation of 18 U,S.C. §§ 1001(a)(2) and 2.
COUNT SIX

18 U.S.C. § 1519
(Falsification of a Record or Document)

46.  Paragraphs 1 through 18 and 21 through 30 of this Indictment are re-alleged and
incorporated by reference as if set forth fully herein. |

47. On or about October 14, 2015, in the Southern District of Indiana and elsewhere,
the defendant,

JOHN S. KEELER,

knowingly concealed, covered up, falsified, and made false entries in a record and document, and
caused others to do so, with the intent to impede, obstruct, and influence the investigation and
proper administration of a matter within the jurisdiction of a department and agency of the
United States, and in relation to and contgmplation of such matter, to wit: KEEL.ER caused a
report to be filed by Brent Waltz for Congress with the Federal Election Commission that falsely
failed to report the source and amount of contributions to the campaign by a corporation, namely
New Centaur, LL.C.

All in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1519 and 2.

COUNT SEVEN

18 U.S.C. § 1001(a)(2)
(False Statements)

48.  Paragraphs 1 through 18, 21 through 30, and 35 through 41 of this Indictment are
re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if set forth fully herein.

49, On or about October 14, 2015, in the Southern District of Indiana and elsewhere,
in a matter within the jurisdiction of the executive branch of the government of the United States,

the defendant,
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DARRYL BRENT WALTZ,

knowingly and willfully caused the submission of a materially false, fictitious, and fraudulent
statement and representation, that is the filing by an unwitting authorized campaign committee of
a candidate for the Office of United States Representative with the Federal Election Commission,
of a report that was materially false in failing to report that WALTZ caused contributions of
money to be made in the names of persons who were not the true sources of the contributions.

All in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1001(a)(2) and 2.

COUNT EIGHT

18 U.S.C. § 1519
(Falsification of a Record or Document)

50.  Paragraphs 1 through 18, 21 through 30, and 35 through 410of this Indictment are
re-alleged and incorporated by reference as if set forth fully herein.

51. On or about October 14, 2015, in the Southern District of Indiana and elsewhere,
the defendant,

" DARRYL BRENT WALTZ,

knowingly concealed, covered up, falsified, and made false entries in a record and document, and
caused others to do so, with the intent to impede, obstruct, and influence the investigation and
proper administration of a matter within the jurisdiction of a department and agency of the
United States, and in relation to and contemplation of such matter, to wit: WALTZ caused a
report to be filed by Brent Waltz for Congress with the Federal Election Commission that falsely
failed to report that WALTZ caused contributions of money to be made in the names of persons
who were not the true sources of the contributions.

All in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1519 and 2.
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COUNT NINE
18 U.S.C. § 1001
(False Statements)

Between or about July 26, 2018, and July 30, 2018, within the Southern District

of Indiana and elsewhere,

DARRYL BRENT WALTZ,

knowingly and willfully made materially false, fictitious and fraudulent statements and

representations in a matter within the jurisdiction of the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI),

which is an agency of the executive branch of the United States, that is, during an interview by

Special Agents of the FBI about the investigation of the conspiracies described in Counts One

and Three, specifically pertaining to the money WALTZ received from Kelley Rogers and

money WALTZ purportedly loaned to his campaign;

a.

WALTYZ falsely told the FBI that Rogers asked WALTZ if Rogers could retain
WALTZ’s investment banking services as a means to maintain their relationship
in spite of their disappointment in Rogers’ ability to raise contributions to Brent
Waltz for Congress, when in truth and in fact, as WALTZ well knew, no such
conversation occurred.

WALTZ falsely told the FBI that he received approximately $12,000 from Rogers
as retainer payments for his investment banking services, when in truth and in
fact, as WALTZ well knew, he received no such sum as payment for investment
banking services. WALTZ said that he did not provide a receipt to Rogers for
this transaction.

WALTZ falsely told the FBI that he sold artwork and other items in order to have

cash available for his campaign, and these sales produced over $100,000 that
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WALTZ subsequently loaned to his campaign, when in truth and in fact, as
WALTZ well knew, Persons A and B provided these funds as a gift, loan, or other
contribution to WALTZ’s campaign, in violation of the limits of the Election Act.

All of which is a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1001(a)(2).
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